IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS MITCHELL SMITH,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SC00-820

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_/

## INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CARL S. MCGINNES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0230502 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

##

## I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Thomas Mitchell Smith was the defendant in the trial court, appellant before the District Court of Appeal, First District of Florida, and will be referred to in this brief as "petitioner," "defendant," or by his proper name.

Filed with this brief is an appendix containing a copy of the opinion issued by the district court in petitioner's case, *Smith v. State*, 25 F.L.W. D684b (Fla. 1st DCA Mar. 13, 2000), along with other documents pertinent to the case. Reference to the appendix will be by use of the symbol "A" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

Pursuant to the Florida Supreme Court's Administrative Order of July 13, 1997, this brief has been printed in Courier New (12 point), not proportionally spaced.

## II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

For a single conviction for robbery, petitioner received a 30-

year sentence as a habitual felony offender, and a 15-year sentence as a prison releasee reoffender. On appeal to the district court, he contended that the prison releasee reoffender statute is unconstitutional. Petitioner also contended that it violated double jeopardy for him to be sentenced for a single offense pursuant to both the habitual felony offender act and the prison releasee reoffender act.

By opinion dated March 13, 2000, the district court rejected both arguments. With respect to the overall constitutionality of the prison release reoffender act, the district court certified to this Court the same issue certified in *Woods v. State*, 740 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA), *review granted*, No. 95,281, 740 So.2d 529 (Fla. Aug. 23, 1999). Regarding the double jeopardy argument, the district court certified conflict with *Adams v. State*, 750 So.2d 659 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)(A-1).

Notice To Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction was timely filed April 12, 2000 (A-2). By Order Postponing Decision On Jurisdiction And Briefing Schedule dated April 17, 2000, the Court ordered petitioner to file a brief on the merits (A-3).

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

For robbery, petitioner was sentenced to prison under the prison releasee reoffender act. In Issue I, *infra*, petitioner argues that the prison releasee reoffender act is unconstitutional. It violates the single subject and separation powers provisions of

the state constitution, and also violates the due process, vagueness, equal protection, and cruel and/or unusual punishment clauses of both the state and federal constitutions.

In Issue II, *infra*, petitioner asserts it violated double jeopardy principles to sentence him under two separate sentencing statutes for a single offense.

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

ISSUE I:

THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER ACT IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

As noted in *Smith*, petitioner was sentenced to a 15-year sentence as a prison releasee reoffender (A-1). While the district court ruled the prison releasee reoffender act constitutional, it certified the same question that was certified in *Woods*. In *Woods*, the following question was certified:

> DOES THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER PUNISHMENT ACT, CODIFIED AS SECTION 775.082(8), FLORIDA STATUTES 1997), VIOLATE THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

740 So.2d at 25.

Petitioner argues that the certified question should be answered "yes," since the prison releasee reoffender act does violate separation of powers principles. Moreover, petitioner contends the statute is unconstitutional for four additional reasons. The Court has authority and discretion to rule on these additional grounds pursuant to **Trushin v. State**, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1993).

Therefore, in this brief, petitioner contends the trial court erred in sentencing him as a prison releasee reoffender, because Section 775.082, Florida Statutes (1997), is unconstitutional on five grounds. Petitioner first contends the statute violates the single subject provisions of Article III, Section 6, Constitution

of the State of Florida. Second, petitioner argues the statute violates separation of powers under Article II, Section 3, Constitution of the State of Florida (the certified question). Third, petitioner asserts the Prison Releasee Reoffender Act violates the cruel and/or unusual punishment provisions contained in the Eighth Amendment, Constitution Of The United States of America, and Article I, Section 17, Constitution of the State of Florida. Fourth, Petitioner argues the statute is void for vagueness under both the state and federal constitutions. Fifth, Petitioner argues the statute violates the due process clauses of both the state and federal constitutioner was discuss each of these points separately.

## Single Subject Requirement

The Prison Releasee Reoffender Act is contained in Section 775.082(8), Florida Statutes (1997). The provisions of the Act require sentences of specified terms of years for offenders who commit specified offenses within three years of being released from a state correctional facility. Here, the defendant was charged with robbery, occurring within a three year period of release from prison.

Article III, Section 6, Constitution of the State of Florida provides, in pertinent part, as follows:

Every law shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith, and

the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title.

The legislation challenged in this case was passed as Chapter 97-239, Laws Of Florida. It became law without the signature of the Governor on May 30, 1997. Chapter 97-239 created the Prison Release Reoffender Punishment Act and was placed in section 775.082, Florida Statutes (1997). The new law amended or created Sections 944.705, 947.141, 948.06, 948.01, and 958.14, Florida Statutes (1997). These provisions concern matters ranging from whether a youthful offender shall be committed to the custody of the department, to when a court may place a defendant on probation or in community control if the person is a substance abuser. *See* Sections 948.01 and 958.14, Florida Statutes (1997). Other matters included expanding the category of persons authorized to arrest a probationer or person on community control for violation. *See* Section 948.06, Florida Statutes (1997).

The only portion of the legislation that relates to the same subject matter as sentencing prison releasee reoffenders is Section 944.705, Florida Statutes (1997), requiring the Department Of Corrections to notify every inmate of the provisions relating to sentencing if the act is violated within three years of release. None of the other subjects in the act are reasonably connected or related and are not part of a single subject.

In Bunnell v. State, 453 So.2d 808 (Fla. 1994), the Court struck an act for containing two subjects. The Court, citing Kirkland v. Phillips, 106 So.2d 909 (Fla. 1959), noted that one purpose of the constitutional requirement was to give fair notice concerning the nature and substance of the legislation. However, even if the title of the act gives fair notice, as did the legislation in Bunnell, another requirement is to allow intelligent lawmaking and to prevent log-rolling of legislation. State ex. Rel. Landis v. Thompson, 120 Fla. 860, 163 So. 270 (1935), and Williams v. State, 100 Fla. 1054, 132 So. 186 (1930). Legislation that violates the single subject rule can become a cloak within which dissimilar legislation may be passed without being fairly debated or considered on its own merits. State v. Lee, 356 So.2d 276 (Fla. 1978). See also State v. Thompson, 750 So.2d 643 (Fla. 1999), and Heggs v. State, 25 F.L.W. S137 (Fla. Feb. 17, 2000).

**Burch v. State**, 558 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1990), does not apply because, although complex, the legislation there was designed to

combat crime through fighting money laundering and providing education programs to foster safer neighborhoods. The means by which this subject was accomplished involved amendments to several statutes, which by itself does not violate the single subject rule. *Id*.

Chapter 97-239, Laws Of Florida, not only creates the act, it also amends Section 948.06, Florida Statutes (1997), to allow "any law enforcement officer who is aware of the probationary or community control status of [a] probationer or offender in community control" to arrest said person and return him or her to the court granting such probation or community control. This provision has no logical connection to the creation of the act, and, therefore, violates the single subject requirement.

An act may be as broad as the legislature chooses provided the matters included in the act have a natural or logical connections. **Chenoweth v. Kemp**, 396 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 1981). See also **State v. Johnson**, 616 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1993)(chapter law creating the habitual offender statute violated single subject requirement). Providing any law enforcement officer who is aware that a person is on community control or probation may arrest that person has nothing to do with the purpose of the Act. Chapter 97-239, therefore, violates the single subject requirement and this issue remains ripe until the 1999 biennial adoption of the Florida Statutes. **Id**.

The statute at bar, although less comprehensive in total scope

as the one approved in **Burch**, is broader in its subject. It violates the single subject rule because the provisions dealing with probation violation, arrest of violators, and forfeiting of gain time for violations of controlled release are matters that are not reasonably related to a specific mandatory punishment provision for persons convicted of certain crimes within three years of release from prison. If the single subject rule means only that "crime" is a subject, then the legislation can pass review, but that is not the rationale utilized by the supreme court in considering whether acts of the legislature comply. The proper manner to review the statute is to consider the purpose of the various provisions, the means provided to accomplish those goals, and then the conclusion is apparent that several subjects are contained in the legislation.

## Separation Of Powers

Petitioner argues that Article II, Section 3, Constitution of the State of Florida, is violated in three separate and distinct ways.

First, the Act restricts the ability of the parties to plea bargain in providing only limited reasons for the state's departure from a maximum sentence, which reasons are set forth in Section 775.082(8)(d), Florida Statutes (1997).

"Under Florida's constitution, the decision to charge and

prosecute is an executive responsibility, and the state attorney has complete discretion in deciding whether and how to prosecute." *State v. Bloom*, 497 So.2d 2, 3 (Fla. 1986). *See also Young v. State*, 699 So.2d 624 (Fla. 1997)(separation of powers violated if trial judge given authority to decide to initiate habitualization proceedings). *See Boykin v. Garrison*, 658 So.2d 1090 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), *review denied*, 664 So.2d 248 (Fla. 1995)(unlawful for court to refuse to accept certain categories of pleas). This provision unlawfully restricts the exercise of executive discretion that is solely the function of the state attorney in determining whether and how to prosecute. Second, pursuant to Section 775.082(8)(d)(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1997), a victim (a lay person) is permitted to make the ultimate decision regarding the particular sentencing scheme under which a defendant will be sentenced. This occurs even if the trial judge believes that the defendant should not receive the mandatory punishment, or should not receive the mandatory maximum penalty.

The language of Section 775.082(8)(d)(1), Florida Statutes (1997), makes it clear that the intent of the legislature is that the offender who qualifies under the statute be punished to the fullest extent of the law "unless" certain circumstances exist. Those circumstances include the written statement of the victim. There is no language in the statute which would appear to give a trial judge the authority to override the wishes of a particular victim. The legislature has therefore unconstitutionally delegated this sentencing power to victims of defendants who qualify under the statute.

Third, the Act also violates the separation of powers doctrine because it removes any discretion of the sentencing judge to do anything other than sentence under the mandatory provisions, unless certain circumstances set out in Section (2)(d)(1) are met. Every one of those circumstances is a matter that is outside the purview of the trial judge. The circumstances include insufficient evidence, unavailability of witnesses, the statement of the victim, and an apparent catch-all which deals with "other extenuating

circumstances."

In contrast, the habitual felony offender statute, Section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1997), vests the trial judge with discretion in determining the appropriate sentence. For example, if the judge finds that a habitual sentence is not necessary for the protection of the public, then the sentence need not be imposed. That is true for a person who qualifies as either a habitual felony offender, a habitual violent felony offender, or a violent career criminal. Although sentencing is clearly a judicial function, the legislature has attempted to vest this authority in the executive branch by authorizing the state attorney to determine who should and who should not be sentenced as a prison release reoffender. While prosecution is an executive function, sentencing is judicial in nature.

Once the state attorney decides to pursue a releasee reoffender sentence and demonstrates that the defendant satisfies the statutory criteria, the sentencing court's function then become ministerial in nature. The court "must" sentence pursuant to the Act. There is no requirement of a finding that such sentencing is necessary to protect the public. It is the lack of inherent discretion on the part of the court to determine the defendant's status and to determine the necessity of a prison releasee reoffender sentence to protect the public that renders the act violation of the separation of powers doctrine.

In **State v. Meyers**, 708 So.2d 661 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), the third district stated:

Furthermore, because the trial court retains discretion to conclude the violent career criminal classification and accompanying mandatory minimum sentence are not necessary for the protection of the public, the separation of powers doctrine is not violated by the mandatory sentence.

708 So.2d at 663.

The separation of powers principles establish that, although the state attorney may suggest the classification and sentence, it is only the judiciary that decides whether to make the classification and impose the mandatory sentence. *London v. State*, 623 So.2d 527, 528 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993). Lacking the provisions of the violent career criminal statute and the habitual offender statute that vest sole discretion as to classification and imposition of a sentence in the sentencing court, the Prison Release Re-Offender Act violates the separation of powers doctrine.

## Cruel And/Or Unusual Punishment

The Eighth Amendment to the Constitution Of The United States forbids the imposition of a sentence that is cruel **and** unusual. Under Article I, Section 17, Constitution of the State of Florida, no punishment that is cruel **or** unusual is permitted. The prohibitions against cruel and/or unusual punishment mean that neither barbaric punishments nor sentences that are disproportionate to the crime committed may be imposed. **Solem v. Helm**, 463 U.S. 277, 103 S.Ct. 3001, 3006, 77 L.Ed.d. 637 (1983), overruled in **Harmelin v. Michigan**, 501 U.S. 957, 111 S.Ct. 2680, 115 L.Ed.d. 836 (1991). In **Solem**, the Supreme Court went on to iterate that the principle of punishment proportionality is deeply rooted in common law jurisprudence, and has been recognized by the Court for almost a century. 103 S.Ct at 3006-3008. Proportionality applies not only to the death penalty, but also to bail, fines, other punishments and prison sentences. **Id**. at 3009. Thus, as a matter of principle, "...a criminal sentence must be proportionate to the crime for which the defendant has been convicted." **Id**. No penalty, even imposed within the limits of a legislative scheme, is *per se* constitutional as a single day in prison could be unconstitutional under some circumstances. **Id**. at 3009-3010.

In Florida, the **Solem** proportionality principles as to the federal constitution are the minimum standard for interpreting the state' s cruel or unusual punishment clause. **Hale v. State**, 630 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1993). Proportionality review is also appropriate under Article I, Section 17, of the state constitution. **Williams v. State**, 630 So.2d 534 (Fla. 1993). In interpreting the federal cruel and unusual punishment clause, the **Hale** court went on the expressly hold that **Solem** had not been overruled by **Harmelin** and that the Eighth Amendment prohibits disproportionate sentences for

non-capital crimes. Hale, supra at 630.

Releasee Re-Offender The Prison Act violates the proportionality concepts of the cruel or unusual punishment clause by the manner in which defendants are punished as prison releasee reoffenders. Section 775.082(8)(a)(1), Florida Statutes (1997), defines a reoffender as a person who commits an enumerated offense and who has been released from a state correctional facility within the preceding three years. Thus, the Act draws a distinction between defendants who commit a new offense after release from prison, and those who have not been to prison or who were released more than three years previously. The Act also draws no distinctions among the prior felony offenders for which the target population was incarcerated. The Act therefore disproportionately punishes a new offense based on one's status of having been to prison previously without regard to the nature of the prior offense. For example, an individual who commits an enumerated felony one day after release from a county jail sentence for aggravated battery is not subject to the enhanced sentence of the Act. However, a person who commits the same offense and who had been released from prison within three years after serving a thirteen month sentence for an offense such as possession of cannabis or issuing a worthless check must be sentenced to the maximum sentence as a prison releasee reoffender. The sentences imposed upon similar defendants who commit identical offenses are

disproportionate because the enhanced sentence is imposed based upon the arbitrary classification of being a prison releasee without regard to the nature of the prior offense. The Act is also disproportionate from the perspective of the defendant who commits an enumerated offense exactly three years after a prison release, as contrasted to another defendant with the same record who commits the same offense three years and one day after release. The arbitrary time limitations of the Act also render it disproportionate.

The Act also violates the cruel and/or unusual punishment clauses of the state and federal constitutions by the legislative empowering of victims to determine sentences. Section 775.082(8)(d)(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1997), permits the victim to mandate the imposition of the mandatory maximum penalty by the simple act of refusing to put a statement in writing that the victim does not desire the imposition of the penalty. The victim can therefore affirmatively determine the sentencing outcome or can determine the sentence by simply failing to act. In fact, the State Attorney could determine the sentence by failing to contact a victim or failing to advise the victim of the right to request less than the mandatory sentence. Further, should a victim become unavailable subsequent to a plea or trial (through a circumstance unconnected to the defendant's criminal agency), the defendant would be subject to the maximum sentence despite the victim's wishes if those wishes had not previously been reduced to writing.

As such, the statute falls squarely within the warning of Justice Douglas in *Furman v. Georgia*, 408 U.S. 238 (1972), that:

Yet our task is not restricted to an effort to divine what motives impelled these death penalties. Rather, we deal with a system of law and of justice that leaves to the uncontrolled discretion of judges or juries the determination whether defendants committing these crimes should die or be imprisoned. Under these laws no standards govern the selection of the penalty. People live or die, dependent on the whim of one man or of 12.

Id. at 253 (Douglas, concurring).

Although the statute at issue here is not a capital sentencing scheme, it does leave the ultimate sentencing decision to the whim of the victim. Justice Stewart added his concurrence that the death penalty could not be imposed "...under legal systems that permit this unique penalty to be so wantonly and freakishly imposed." *Id.* at 310 (Stewart, concurring). Without any statutory guidance or control of victim decision making, the Act establishes a wanton and freakish sentencing statute by vesting sole discretion in the victim.

If the prohibitions against cruel and/or unusual punishment mean anything, they mean that vengeance is not a permissible goal of punishment. As Justice Marshall observed in **Furman**:

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