IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS MITCHELL SMITH,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC00-820

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

The First District created intradistrict conflict in Walls <u>v. State</u>, No. 1D98-3966 (Fla. 1st DCA May 17, 2000) and <u>Palmore v.</u> State, No. 1D99-71 (Fla. 1st DCA May 17, 2000). In Walls v. State, No. 1D98-3966 (Fla. 1st DCA May 17, 2000), the First District held that a defendant may not be sentenced as both a reoffender and a habitual offender when life felonies are involved. Walls was convicted of second degree felony murder, armed robbery, armed burglary and two counts of attempted first-degree murder, all of which are first-degree felonies punishable by life. The trial court sentenced him as both a habitual felony offender and as a prison releasee reoffender. The Walls Court stated that under the facts of this case, the trial court acted outside its authority in sentencing appellant as both a habitual felony offender and prison releasee reoffender. Section 775.082(8)(c) provides: "Nothing in this subsection shall prevent a court from imposing a greater

In <u>Grant v. State</u>, 745 So.2d 519 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), review granted, No. SC99-164 (Fla. April 12, 2000), the Second District held that the double jeopardy clause was not violated by a sentence of 15 years as a habitual felony offender with minimum mandatory

sentence of incarceration as authorized by law, pursuant to s. 775.084 or any other provision of law. Focusing on the "greater sentence" language, the Walls Court struck the habiutal offender Walls' sentence under the habitual felony offender statute, life, is the same as his sentence under the prison releasee reoffender statute, also life. Section 775.082(8)(c) only authorizes the court to deviate from the prison releasee reoffender sentencing scheme to impose a greater sentence of incarceration, and because a life term under the habitual felony offender statute is not greater than a life term under the prison releasee reoffender statute, the trial court was without authority to sentence Walls as a habitual felony offender. The First District then affirmed Walls' five concurrent life sentences as a prison releasee reoffender. The Walls Court stated that it "declined to reach the double jeopardy argument" and found no conflict between this case and Smith v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D684 (Fla. 1st DCA Mar.13, 2000); Adams v. State, 750 So.2d 659 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), petition for review filed, No. 00-18 (Fla. Jan. 3, 2000); or Lewis <u>v. State</u>, 751 So.2d 106 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), petition for review filed, No. 00-686 (Fla. Mar. 29, 2000), none of which involve life sentences.

In <u>Palmore v. State</u>, No. 1D99-71 (Fla. 1st DCA May 17, 2000), the First District held that a defendant may not be sentenced as both a reoffender and violent career criminal when life sentences are involved. The <u>Palmore</u> Court explained that because Palmore was sentenced as a prison releasee reoffender, he was not subject to sentencing as a violent career criminal because section 775.084 does not authorize a sentence longer than the life sentence section 775.082(8)(c) authorizes. While the statute does authorize imposition of "a greater sentence of incarceration as authorized by law, pursuant to s. 775.084 or any other provision of law," § 775.082(8)(c), Fla. Stat. (1997), it does not authorize imposition of a sentence under another provision that does not result in a greater sentence of incarceration.

However, contrary to this finding, the holdings in <u>Walls</u> and <u>Palmore</u>, do, in fact, conflict with the First District's earlier decisions in <u>Smith</u> and <u>Bloodworth</u>. The fact that life sentences are involved is irrelevant. Both case rely on the language of the statute's subsection, which would apply to any sentence not just a life sentence.

term of 15 years as a prison releasee reoffender. Grant was sentenced for sexual battery. Grant argued that his sentence as a prison releasee reoffender and as a habitual felony offender for a single offense violates double jeopardy because it is two separate sentences. The Grant Court rejected this argument, reasoning that the sentence was not two separate sentences but rather, it was actually just one sentence. Grant received one sentence of fifteen years as a habitual felony offender with a minimum mandatory term of fifteen years as a prison releasee reoffender. mandatory sentences are proper as long as they run concurrently. Therefore, because the minimum mandatory prison releasee reoffender sentence runs concurrently to the habitual felony offender sentence, there was no error. See Jones v. State, 751 So.2d 139 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000)(certifying conflict with the Fourth District's decisions in Adams v. State, 750 So.2d 659 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999); Melton v. State, 746 So.2d 1188 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) and Glave v. State, 745 So.2d 1065 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)).

The Third District has also held that dual classification as a prison releasee reoffender and an habitual offender does not violate double jeopardy and certified conflict with the Fourth District's decision in <u>Adams v. State</u>, 750 So.2d 659 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999). <u>Alfonso v. State</u>, No. 3D99-618, 2000 WL 485049 (Fla. 3d DCA April 26, 2000).

In <u>Gordon v. State</u>, 745 So.2d 1016 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), the Fourth District held that a defendant could not be sentenced as both a prison releasee reoffender and as an habitual felony

offender. The State sought sentencing as both a prison releasee reoffender and an habitual felony offender. The State argued that the prison releasee reoffender applied even though the trial court sentenced appellant as an habitual offender. The trial court declined to sentence Gordon as a prison releasee reoffender; rather, the trial court sentenced Gordon to 20 years incarceration solely as an habitual felony offender. The state cross-appealed, arguing that the trial court was required to impose a prison releasee reoffender sentence. The Fourth District relied on the language of § 775.082(8)(c), which provides:

Nothing in this subsection shall prevent a court from imposing a greater sentence of incarceration as authorized by law, pursuant to s. 775.084 or any other provision of law.

The <u>Gordon</u> Court concluded that where the state seeks and obtains an habitual offender sentence greater than the prison releasee reoffender sanctions, the mandatory minimum sentence of the prison releasee reoffender statute does not apply.

In <u>Adams v. State</u>, 750 So.2d 659 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), the Fourth District held that sentencing as both a prison releasee reoffender and a habitual felony offender violated the double jeopardy clause. Adams was convicted of burglary of an occupied dwelling and sentenced as both a habitual offender and a prison releasee reoffender. The trial court sentenced Adams to a total of thirty years' incarceration. The first fifteen years would be served as a prison releasee reoffender. The remaining fifteen years were to

⁵ The minimum mandatory for Adams offense was fifteen years' incarceration. See § 775.082(8)(a)2.c.

be served as an habitual offender. The Prison Releasee Reoffender Act does not allow any type of early release, including gain time. In contrast, the habitual felony offender statute allows early release after completing at least 85% of his sentence. were sentenced to thirty years solely as an habitual offender, he would be required to serve 85% of the sentence. 85% of thirty years is 25.5 years. Thus, Adams would serve approximately 25.5 years which is more than the minimum mandatory of fifteen years required by the prison releasee reoffender statute. However, the Adams Court explained, that because Adams was sentenced to the first fifteen years as a prison releasee reoffender, he would receive no gain time during the first fifteen years. Adams would only receive gain time during the last fifteen years. Adams would have to serve 85% of the last fifteen years or 12.75 years prior to being eligible for release. The Adams Court then added the fifteen years as a prison releasee reoffender to the 12.75 years as a habitual offender for a total of 27.75 years. The Adams Court then reasoned that the total of 27.75 years is greater than the total of 25.5 years that Adams would have to serve if sentence solely as a habitual offender and concluded that the prison releasee reoffender sentence therefore impacts his actual sentence. The prison releasee reoffender impacts the length of the sentence by impacting the accumulation of gain time. Thus, Adams received two separate sentences for the same crime, with different lengths and release eligibility requirements. The Double Jeopardy Clause of both the United States Constitution and the Florida Constitution prohibit

multiple punishments. The <u>Adams</u> Court stated that: "there has never been any doubt of its entire and complete protection of the party when a second punishment is proposed in the same court, on the same facts, for the same statutory offense". The <u>Adams</u> Court also relied on the language of the statute and legislative intent to determine that dual punishments were not allowed. The <u>Adams</u> Court concluded that the legislature created <u>alternative</u> sentencing options for the same offense. A reading of the statute reveals that the legislature did not intend to authorize an "double sentences" where a defendant qualified as both a prison releasee reoffender and a habitual offender. Section 775.082(8)(c) states:

[n]othing in this subsection shall prevent a court from imposing a greater sentence of incarceration as authorized by law, pursuant to s. 775.084 or any other provision of law.

The Fourth District concluded that this section overrides the mandatory duty to sentence a defendant as a prison releasee reoffender when the trial court elects to impose a harsher sentence as a habitual offender. The <u>Adams</u> Court explained the proper remedy was to vacate the lesser prison releasee reoffender sentence and retain the harsher habitual offender sentence.

Adams is incorrectly decided. The entire case holding, finding a violation of the double jeopardy clause, is dependent on the finding that the prison releasee reoffender actually affects the lengthen of the sentence. It does not. Judge Warner's math and reasoning on this critical point is mistaken. The 85% rule applies to the total habitual offender sentence of thirty years and does not apply to just to last fifteen years. Therefore, Judge Warner's

figure of 12.75 years is meaningless. The 27.75 years figure, which is dependent on the 12.75 figure, is equally meaningless. Judge Warner uses the 27.75 years figure to conclude that the prison releasee reoffender sentence affects the length of the Because 27.75 years figure is faulty, so is this sentence. conclusion. The only accurate calculation is the 25.5 years. 85% of thirty years is indeed 25.5 years. A defendant sentenced as a habitual offender must serve 25.5 years prior to being released regardless of the amount of gain time credit. Moreover, the statement regarding gain time is incorrect. A defendant receives no gain time credit as a prison releasee reoffender. However, a defendant sentenced as a habitual offender will receive gaintime during the entire thirty year period. The prison releasee reoffender provision regarding gain time does not vitiate the habitual offender provision allowing gaintime. Adams will receive no credit towards his prison releasee reoffender sentence but will receive full credit against his habitual offender sentence. contrary to the calculations in Adams, the fifteen year minimum mandatory prison releasee reoffender sentence does not affect the length of the habitual offender sentence and a defendant does not spend one additional day in jail because of dual sentencing as a prison releasee reoffender.

The Fourth District has certified conflict with <u>Grant v. State</u>, 745 So.2d 519 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999), review granted, No. SC99-164 (Fla. Apr. 12, 2000), <u>Smith v. State</u>, 754 So.2d 100 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000), and <u>Alfonso v. State</u>, 2000 WL 485049 (Fla. 3d DCA April 26,

2000). <u>Brooks v. State</u>, No. 4D99-1017, 2000 WL 526040 (Fla. 4th DCA May 3, 2000)(certifying conflict) and <u>West v. State</u>, No. 4D99-2537, 2000 WL 668894 (Fla. 4th DCA May 24, 2000)(certifying conflict).

In Lewis v. State, 751 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), the Fifth District held that prison releasee reoffender statute authorizes alternative sentences; it does not provide for dual sentences. The State may seek either habitual offender sanctions or prison releasee reoffender sanctions, not both. Lewis was convicted of burglary of an "unoccupied dwelling" and was sentenced as both an habitual violent felony offender and as a prison releasee The trial court sentencing Lewis to ten years' reoffender. imprisonment followed by ten years of probation as a habitual felony offender and to fifteen years' imprisonment as a prison releasee reoffender. The trial court imposed concurrent sentences. Lewis contended that being sentenced both as a habitual violent felony offender and as a prison releasee reoffender violated the both the federal and the Florida prohibitions against double jeopardy. The Lewis Court, quoting and relying on the Fourth District's decision in Adams v. State, 750 So. 2d 659 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), reasoned that Lewis "has received two separate sentences for the same crime, with different lengths and release eligibility requirements." The relevant paragraph of the prison releasee reoffender statute, § 775.082(8)(c), Fla. Stat. (1997), provides: "[n]othing in this subsection shall prevent a court from imposing a greater sentence of incarceration as authorized by law, pursuant to s. 775.084 or any other provision of law." The Lewis Court

explained that because the prison releasee reoffender statute refers to a "greater sentence" of incarceration, the prison releasee reoffender sentence, which was the longer of the two possible incarcerations, could be imposed. However, only prison releasee reoffender sanctions could be imposed not both. <u>Id.</u> at n.1 <u>See Dragani v. State</u>, No. 5D99-1203 (Fla. 5th DCA June 1, 2000)(acknowledging conflict with the Second District's decision in <u>Grant v. State</u>, 745 So.2d 519 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999)).

Petitioner's reliance on <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 659 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 1995); <u>Brooks v. State</u>, 630 So.2d 527 (Fla. 1993) and <u>Hale v. State</u>, 630 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1993) is misplaced. While these and several other cases have prohibited dual minimum mandatory sentences to be imposed consecutively, both minimum mandatory sentence may be imposed. They just must run concurrently. The rationale of these cases was the lack of specific legislative authorization for the imposition of consecutive minimum mandatory

Palmer v. State, 438 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1983) (prohibiting the "stacking" of consecutive mandatory three-year minimum sentences); Daniels v. State, 595 So.2d 952 (Fla. 1992)(prohibiting the imposition of consecutive life in prison with a fifteen-year minimum mandatory sentences); Hale v. State, 630 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1993) (prohibiting consecutive habitual offender minimum mandatory sentences); Brooks v. State, 630 So. 2d 527 (Fla. 1993)(prohibiting consecutive violent habitual offender minimum mandatory sentences); Jackson v. State, 659 So.2d 1060 (Fla. 1995)(holding violent habitual offender and firearm minimum mandatory sentences may be imposed but must run concurrently with one another if they arose from a single criminal episode); <u>Boler v. State</u>, 678 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1996)(holding the mandatory minimum sentence of 25 years for first-degree murder had to run concurrently with the three-year minimum mandatory term under the enhancement statute for use of a firearm during the commission of a felony).

sentences. <u>Boler v. State</u>, 678 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1996)(noting the lack of specific legislative authorization in the enhancement statutes). The direct holding of these cases does not apply because appellant's sentences were not imposed consecutively. However, they also stand for the proposition that enhancement sentences may not be used in conjunction with one another to lengthen a defendant's sentence in the absence of explicit statutory authority. However, the prison releasee reoffender sentence was not imposed consecutively. Here, the prison releasee reoffender was imposed concurrently and therefore, does not violate the holdings of these minimum mandatory cases.

<u>Harmless Error</u>

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